
 

 

 

 

PJSC MIPC 

IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements 
with Independent Auditor’s Report 

31 December 2019 

Moscow | 2020 























PJSC MIPC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
(in millions of Russian Rubles)  

12 

 

 

1 The Group and its operations 

1.1 Organisational structure and operations  

Public Joint Stock Company “Moscow Integrated Power Company” (the “Company” or PJSC MIPC) and its subsidiaries 

(the “Group”) are involved in generation, purchase and distribution of heat energy in the form of heating and hot water to 

commercial organisations and for domestic needs of residents in Moscow and the Moscow region. 

PJSC MIPC was established on 1 November 2004 under the agreement “On cooperation in restructuring the electric power 

complex of Moscow”, which was concluded between OJSC RAO UES of Russia, the Moscow Government, 

PJSC Mosenergo and the Regional Energy Commission of Moscow. 

On 7 August 2015 Open Joint Stock “Company Moscow Integrated Power Company” changed its official name to Public Joint 

Stock Company “Moscow Integrated Power Company” due to changes in legislation. 

PJSC MIPC is an operator of the most long-distance heating system in the world: the Company is operating more than 

16.4 thousand kilometers of heating networks, including about 8.1 thousand kilometers of magistral heating networks and 

8.4 thousand kilometers of distributing heating networks. PJSC MIPC maintains 143 energy stations with total heat capacity 

of 4.82 thousand Gkal/h. The Company also operates above 10 thousand heating units. 

The Company continuously supplies heat to 12 million of Moscow residents. 

The Group’s production assets are located in Moscow. The Company’s registered address is: 119526, the Russian Federation, 

Moscow, Prospekt Vernadskogo, building 101, housing 3, floor 20, office 2017. 

Group formation 

On 1 January 2013 the major shareholder of PJSC MIPC was the Moscow Government through the Moscow City Property 

Department which owned 89.98% of shares. 

On 19 September 2013 LLC Gazprom energoholding acquired 89.98% shares of PJSC MIPC from the Moscow City Property 

Department. Due to consolidation of assets of LLC MIPC-Finance that owned 8.91% of PJSC MIPC, the actual percentage of 

ownership of LLC Gazprom energoholding amounted to 98.77% as a result of this transaction. 

In January 2014 LLC Gazprom energoholding acquired 0.07% of the Company’s shares from minority shareholders (under 

offer), increasing its ownership interest up to 90.05%. Due to consolidation of assets of LLC MIPC-Finance the actual 

ownership interest of LLC Gazprom energoholding amounted to 98.86% as a result of this transaction. 

In August 2017 PJSC MIPC repurchased its own treasury shares from shareholders who claimed for redemption in connection 

with the planned reorganisation in form of merger with PJSC Mezhregionteplosetenergoremont. The total amount of redeemed 

ordinary shares was 1,511,412, as a result the amount of voting shares of PJSC MIPC decreased by 1,511,412. The actual 

ownership interest of LLC Gazprom energoholding amounted to 99.53%. 

In March 2018 PJSC MIPC was reorganised by merging with PJSC Mezhregionteplosetenergoremont. As a result by means 

of share conversion the share capital of PJSC MIPC was increased by 5,326,453 additional ordinary shares and amounted to 

249,460,465 shares.  

On 23 January 2019 the Group repurchased its own shares from shareholders who claimed for redemption in connection with 

the reorganisation of PJSC MIPC in the form of merger with its subsidiary LLC TSK Novaya Moskva. 

On 25 April 2019 LLC Gazprom energoholding made a contribution to the share capital of PJSC MIPC by contributing property 

amounted to RUB 1,259 million, as a result of which the share capital of PJSC MIPC was increased by offering 6,810,811 

additional ordinary shares of PJSC MIPC with a nominal value of 100 rubles per a share and amounted to 256,271,317 ordinary 

shares. Taking into account this operation, the actual ownership percentage of LLC Gazprom energoholding amounted to 

99.45%. 

As at 31 December 2019 LLC Gazprom energoholding was the immediate parent company of the Group (the “Parent 

company”). The Group’s immediate parent company does not issue consolidated financial statements for public use. 

1.2 Business environment  

The Group operates in the Russian Federation. The economy of the Russian Federation displays certain characteristics of an 

emerging market. It is particularly sensitive to oil and gas prices changes. Tax, currency and customs legislation of the Russian 

Federation continues to develop and is a subject to frequent changes and varying interpretations. The Russian economy was 

negatively impacted and may be impacted in the future by a continuing fluctuations in oil prices, political tension in the region 

and international sanctions against certain Russian companies and individuals.  
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As a result during 2019: 

 the Central Bank of the Russian Federation (further on – “CBRF”) exchange rate fluctuated from 61.7164 Russian 

Rubles (further on – “ruble” or “RUB”) to RUB 67.192 per US Dollar; 

 the CBRF key refinancing interest decreased from 7.75% to 6.25% p.a.; 

 access to international financial markets to raise funding was limited for certain entities.  

The financial markets continue to demonstrate volatility, frequent significant price movements and increasing trading spreads. 

Subsequent to 31 December 2019: 

 the CBRF exchange rate fluctuated from RUB 60.9474 to RUB 67.5175 per USD;  

 Credit rating of Russian Federation per Moody’s and Fitch Ratings is still in line with the investment level; 

 the CBRF key refinancing interest rate decreased to 6.00% p.a. 

These events may have a further significant impact on the Group’s future operations and financial position, the effect of which 

is difficult to predict. The future economic and regulatory situation and its impact on the Group’s operations may differ from 

management’s current expectations. 

These consolidated financial statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of the Russian business environment 

on the operations and the financial position of the Group.  

1.3 Relationship with the Government and current legislation 

At the end of the reporting period the Russian Federation owned (both directly and indirectly) over 50% in PJSC Gazprom 

which is the 100% parent company of LLC Gazprom energoholding. Thus, PJSC Gazprom is the Group’s ultimate parent 

company and the Russian Federation (the “Government”) is the Group’s ultimate controlling party. 

The Government of the Russian Federation directly affects the Group’s operations through regulations of heat energy market, 

wholesale and retail sales of electricity, effected by the Federal Antymonopoly Service, the Department of Economic Policy 

and Development of Moscow, the Committee on prices and tariffs of the Moscow region. The Government’s economic, social 

and other policies could substantially affect the Group’s operations. 

The Group’s customer base includes a large number of entities controlled by or related to the Government. The Government 

also controls a number of the Group’s suppliers. Detailed information about operations with related parties is provided in 

Note 6. 

1.4 Scope of consolidation 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements reflect the results of PJSC MIPC and its subsidiaries. 

Subsidiary Nature of business 
Interest held 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

OJSC Mosgorenergo Energy distribution services 100.00% 100.00% 

LLC MIPC-Finance Operations on securities market 100.00% 100.00% 

LLC TSK MIPC 
Production, transmission and distribution of 

steam and hot water (heat energy) 100.00% 100.00% 

LLC Tsentr technologicheskih 

prisoedineniy MIPC  

Connection to networks of engineering and 

technical support 100.00% 100.00% 

LLC Tsentr upravleniya 

nedvizhimostiu 

Intermediary services in buying, selling and 

renting real estate 100.00% 100.00% 

LLC TSK Mosenergo 
Production, transmission and distribution of 

steam and hot water (heat energy) 74.64% 77.49% 

LLC Razvitiye teplosetevogo 

kompleksa 

Heating network and associated equipment 

development - 100.00% 

LLC TSK Novaya Moskva 
Production, transmission and distribution of 

steam and hot water (heat energy) - 100.00% 

On 14 February 2019 share capital of LLC TSK Mosenergo was increased by contribution of property owned PJSC Mosenergo. 

As a result of this operation the share of PJSC MIPC in the share capital of LLC TSK Mosenergo decreased to 74.64%. 

On 8 May 2019 LLC TSK Novaya Moskva ceased its operation by means of reorganization by merging with PJSC MIPC.  

On 6 September 2019 the activity of LLC Razvitiye teplosetevogo kompleksa was terminated by liquidation of the company. 

As of 1 July 2019 as a result of presenting its share for repayment by the second participant, the Group gained control over 

LLC TSK Metrologiya (previously 99% of the share belonged to LLC TEK-Inform, a subsidiary of 

LLC Gazprom energoholding). On 26 December 2019 LLC TSK Metrologiya sold its own 99% share to 

LLC Gazpromenergoremont, as a result of which the Group lost control over LLC TSK Metrologiya.  
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As at 31 December 2019 there are no significant restrictions in getting access to the subsidiary’s assets or using them for settling 

the subsidiary’s obligations. 

The Group holds no preference shares. 

2 Basis of preparation   

2.1 Statement of compliance with IFRS 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with, and in compliance with, the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (further on – “IFRS”).  

2.2 Seasonal nature of activities 

The time of year and weather conditions influence the demand for heat energy. The main volume of income from the sale of 

heat energy falls from October to March. The seasonal nature of the heat energy production has the corresponding effect on 

the purchase of heat energy, fuel consumption and other resources. The seasonal nature of the activity does not affect the 

Group's recognition of income or expenses. 

2.3 Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on rules of accounting at historical cost except for financial 

assets classified as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss and non-current assets held for sale.  

2.4 Functional and presentation currency 

The national currency of the Russian Federation is the Russian Ruble, which is the Company’s functional currency and the 

currency in which these consolidated financial statements are presented. All financial information presented in RUB has been 

rounded to the nearest million. 

3 Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies described below have been applied consistently to all reporting periods presented in these consolidated 

financial statements and have been applied consistently by all Group’s entities. 

3.1 Basis of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are those investees, that the Group controls because the Group:  

 has the power to control significant operations which has a considerable impact on the investee’s returns;  

 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

The existence and effect of substantive rights, including substantive potential voting rights, are considered when assessing 

whether the Group has power over another entity. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have practical ability to exercise 

that right when decisions about the direction of the relevant activities of the investee need to be made. The Group may have 

power over an investee even when it holds less than majority of voting power in an investee. In such a case, the Group assesses 

the size of its voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders to determine if it has de-

facto power over the investee.  

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group (acquisition date) and are 

deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when it was 

necessary to align them with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

The Group measures non-controlling interest, that represents present ownership interest and entitles the holder to a 

proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation, on a transaction-by-transaction basis at the non-controlling interest's 

proportionate share of net assets of the acquiree. Non-controlling interests that are not present ownership interests are measured 

at fair value. 

Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results and of the equity of a subsidiary attributable to interests, which are not 

owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company. Non-controlling interest forms a separate component of the Group’s equity. 

The losses attributable to the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary are fully charged to the non-controlling interest account, 

even if this results in a debit balance (deficit) on this account.  
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(ii) Loss of control 

Upon the loss of control over a subsidiary, the Group derecognises its assets and liabilities, and the related non-controlling 

interests and other components of equity. Any positive or negative difference resulting from the loss of control is recognised 

in profit or loss for the period. In addition, the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 

to profit or loss. 

If the Group retains any interest in the former subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date of loss of 

control. Subsequently, the interest is accounted for as an investment in an associate (using the equity method) or as available-

for-sale financial assets, depending on the extent to which the Group continues to affect that entity. 

(iii) Investments in associates (equity accounted investees) 

Associates are those entities over which financial and operating policy the Group has significant influence but does not control 

them. An investment in an associate are accounted for using the equity method. The consolidated financial statements include 

the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of equity accounted investees, after adjustments to 

align their accounting policies with those of the Group. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, 

the Group’s interest (including all long-term investments) is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued 

except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations to make or already made payments on behalf 

of the investee. 

(iv) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intercompany transactions and balances as well as any unrealised gains or losses on transactions between group companies are 

eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with investees which 

are accounted for using the equity method, are eliminated in proportion to the Group’s share in such objects. Unrealised losses 

are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment of the 

underlying asset. 

3.2 Business combinations of entities under common control 

A business combination involving businesses under common control is a business combination in which all of the combining 

businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the business combination, and that control 

is not transitory.  

For transactions between the Group and entities under common control of a single owner, the application of IFRS 3 Business 

Combinations is not required. 

The Group recognises such transactions at the carrying amount of acquired assets and liabilities reflected in the  consolidated 

financial statements of the immediate parent company for the parties involved in the transaction and under its common control. 

Any difference between the carrying amount of net assets, including the amount of goodwill generated by the predecessor 

organisation (transferring party), and the amount of the consideration paid is recognised in the consolidated financial statements 

in equity. 

The consolidated financial statements include the results of an acquired company from the date of acquisition. 

3.3 Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at exchange rates at the dates of transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into the functional currency 

at the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at 

fair value are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign 

exchange differences arising from translation are recognised in profit or loss. 

3.4 Financial instruments 

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments in its operating activities. 

The Group’s non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other 

receivables, cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, trade and other payables and lease liabilities.  

Non-derivative financial instruments (financial assets and liabilities) are initially measured at fair value plus or minus, in the 

case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial 

instruments are measured in accordance with the methods described below. 

The classification of financial instruments to a particular category occurs at their initial recognition on the basis of the entity’s 

business-model for managing financial assets and financial liabilities and characteristics of the financial instrument associated 

with the contractual cash flows. 
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Financial assets measured at amortised cost. Financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost if it is held within a 

business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms 

of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 

amount outstanding. 

Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial instrument is measured at initial recognition minus the principal 

repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial 

amount and the maturity amount and, for the financial assets, adjusted for any estimated loss allowance. 

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period, so as to 

achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. The effective interest rate is the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (excluding future credit losses) through the expected life of 

the financial instrument or a shorter period, if appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial instrument. The effective 

interest rate discounts cash flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing date, except for the premium or 

discount which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or other variables that are not reset 

to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised over the whole expected life of the instrument. The present value 

calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest 

rate. 

Loans and receivables classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost include financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than those that the Group intends to sell immediately or 

in the near term, and those that the Group classified upon initial recognition as financial assets measured at fair value through 

profit or loss.  

Cash and cash equivalents classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost include cash in hand and in bank accounts, 

deposits with banks with original maturities of three months or less, and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management policy are included in cash and cash equivalents for 

the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows. The Group presents interest accrued on bank accounts balances as cash 

flows from operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Financial asset is classified as measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income if it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates 

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. When the financial asset 

is derecognised the cumulative gain or loss that was recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred from equity to 

profit or loss of the period as a reclassification adjustment. 

For the purpose of the above classification the principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. The interest 

consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding 

during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. Financial asset is classified as measured at fair value through 

profit or loss unless it is measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Irrespective of the described above conditions, an entity may at its sole discretion, at initial recognition, classify a financial 

asset as measured at fair value through profit or loss or other comprehensive income without the right of subsequent 

reclassification, if it eliminates or significantly reduce a measurement or recognition inconsistency (“accounting mismatch”).  

The Group recognises the disposal of a financial asset only in the event of termination of the rights for cash flows under the 

relevant contract or if the financial asset and the related risks and rewards are transferred to another entity. If the Group retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred financial asset, it continues to recognise the financial 

asset. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety the difference between its carrying amount measured at the date of 

derecognition and consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) shall be recognised 

in profit or loss. The Group derecognises financial liabilities only when they are paid, cancelled or expired. 

Financial liabilities include mainly trade and other accounts payable, lease liabilities, borrowings payable and are classified as 

measured subsequently at amortised cost by using the effective interest method. 

3.5 Share capital 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to an issue of ordinary shares are recognised as 

a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
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Treasury shares 

When equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid which includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax 

effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented as a 

deduction from total equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an 

increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is transferred to/from retained earnings or from 

accumulated losses. 

3.6 Property, plant and equipment 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost of actual acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses. In the case of impairment, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount, the difference is 

recognised as an expense (impairment loss) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and included in 

accumulated depreciation and impairment. Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment recognised in prior periods is 

reversed if there has been a positive change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount. 

The cost of acquired assets includes costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 

assets includes the cost of materials, direct labor and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 

condition for its intended use, as well as the costs of dismantling and removing the assets and restoring the site on which they 

were located. Purchased software being integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 

equipment.  

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of an asset are capitalised as part of the cost of 

that asset only if asset takes a substantial period to get ready for its intended use or sale. 

The commencement date for capitalisation is when (a) the Group incurs expenditures for the qualifying asset; (b) it incurs 

borrowing costs, and (c) it undertakes activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. 

Capitalisation of borrowing costs continues up to the date when the assets are substantially ready for their use or sale.  

For funds, borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, amount of costs eligible for capitalisation is 

determined as the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the period less any investment income on the 

temporary investment of those borrowings. For funds, borrowed for general purposes and used also for obtaining a qualifying 

asset, borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation are calculated at the Group’s average funding cost, determined with the 

exception of borrowings obtained specifically for obtaining a qualifying asset (the weighted average interest cost applied to 

the expenditures on the qualifying assets). If calculated amount of costs eligible for capitalisation exceed actual borrowing 

costs, the actual borrowing costs incurred during the period are capitalised less any investment income on the temporary 

investment of those borrowings. 

If an item of property, plant and equipment includes separate components with different useful lives, each component is 

accounted as a separate item (significant component) of property, plant and equipment. 

Gain and loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss for the period. 

The Group’s property, plant and equipment may be liquidated by the construction company at its own expense if they  prevent 

the construction works in Moscow. As compensation the construction company should depending on the contractual terms 

either build new assets at its own expense and transfer them to the Group in substitution of the liquidated ones, or pay the losses 

to the Group by cash. Assets received as a compensation are accounted for at fair value. Compensation received in cash is 

recognised as advances received in the consolidated statement of financial position upon receipt. Gain on liquidation and the 

cost of the liquidated item of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income at the moment of liquidation. 

(ii) Subsequent costs 

The cost of replacing a significant component of an item of property, plant and equipment increases the carrying amount of the 

item if it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying 

amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day maintenance of property, plant and equipment 

are recognised in profit or loss for the period as incurred. 

(iii)  Depreciation 

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each item of property, plant 

and equipment. Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is ready for use. 
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The estimated useful lives of certain classes of property, plant and equipment in the current and comparative periods are as 

follows: 

 Buildings and constructions   5-80 years 

 Heating networks    5-80 years 

 Machinery and equipment   1-32 years 

 Transport and other                2-30 years 

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.  

3.7 Right-of-use asset 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if 

the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date, the date on which the asset is 

available for use. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date 

and are subsequently valued at amortized cost with recognition of the interest expenses as part of the financial expenses of the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Lease payments shall be discounted using the interest rate of additional borrowing by the Group, which is the rate at which, at 

the date of commencement of the lease relationship, the Group could raise, for a similar period and with a similar security, the 

loan necessary to obtain a right-of-use asset with a similar value under similar economic conditions. 

The Group does not recognize the right-of-use asset and lease liability for short-term leases that do not exceed 12 months and 

for low-value leased assets. 

Right-of-use assets are initially valued at acquisition cost and amortized on a straight-line basis until an earlier date, the end of 

useful life of the asset of a right-of-use asset or the end of lease date. 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets is reflected in the “Amortisation and depreciation” of operating expenses. 

3.8 Intangible assets 

The Group’s intangible assets include mainly software, which was acquired as separate assets.  

Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised 

only when it increases the future economic benefits from the specific asset to which it relates. All other costs, including costs 

of internally generated goodwill, are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Amortisation  

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, except 

for goodwill, from the date when they are ready for use.  

The estimated useful lives of software for the current and comparative periods vary from one to ten years.  

Amortisation methods, estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.  

3.9 Impairment  

(i) Financial assets  

Loss allowance for expected credit losses of the financial instrument is measured at each reporting date in the amount equal to 

the lifetime expected credit losses if there have been significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since its initial 

recognition, whether assessed on an individual or collective basis, considering all reasonable and supportable information, 

including that which is forward-looking. In respect of trade receivables with or without financial component loss allowance 

for expected credit losses is always measured in the amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. 

In respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost the amount of impairment loss is calculated as the difference between 

the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective 

interest rate. 

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 

The amount of credit losses represents the present value of all cash shortfalls. As expected credit losses model considers the 

amount and timing of payments, a credit loss arises even if the entity expects to be paid in full but later than when contractually 

due. For the purposes of financial assets’ credit risk management, the Group determines a default as a customer’s violation of 

its obligation of debt repayment within the terms provided by the contract.  
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Expected credit losses are measured in a way that reflects: 

 an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; 

 the time value of money; 

 reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past 

events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

For the purposes of calculating expected credit losses for accounts receivables the Group used the loss allowance matrix based 

on the number of days of delay of trade receivables and customer groups. 

The amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the 

amount that is required to be recognised in accordance with the expected credit losses model is recognised in profit or loss as 

an impairment gain or loss. 

If a financial asset is classified by the entity as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, loss allowance for 

such financial asset is recognised in other comprehensive income and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial 

asset in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 (ii) Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually to determine whether there is any 

indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  

To determine the amount of impairment, assets are grouped in the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash 

inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment 

testing, assets which cannot be tested individually, are grouped into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 

from continuing use of respective assets that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets.  

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable 

amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss reversal of the carrying amount of an asset should not exceed the carrying amount that would be established 

(less depreciation) if no impairment loss would have been recognised in the previous periods. Impairment loss reversal is 

recognised in profit or loss. 

3.10 Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories includes purchase costs, cost of 

production or conversion and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. Regarding the 

inventories of own production and work in progress, the cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on 

the entity’s normal operating capacity.  

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 

selling expenses. 

3.11 Employee benefits 

Wages payable to employees for the services rendered during the current period are recognised as expenses of the current 

period. 

Social benefits 

In accordance with the social policy PJSC MIPC is obliged to make one-time financial assistance payment to retired employees 

based on their length of service in the Company. Employee benefit obligations are measured at present value. 

3.12 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events occurred until the 

reporting date, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of 

the amount of the obligation can be made. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  
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3.13 Revenue 

Revenue from contracts with customers includes the sale of heat energy in the form of heating and hot water, its transmission 

and other related services, and represents the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of value added tax. 

Revenues from heat energy sales are calculated monthly based on: 

 volume of heat consumed on the basis of the data from metering units, installed at the consumers’ buildings or at heat 

distribution units, based on the contractual heat load of the consumer; and 

 tariffs, approved by the Department of Economic Policy and Development of Moscow, the Committee on prices and 

tariffs of the Moscow region. 

Revenue from contracts with customers other than heat energy sales is measured at fair value of the consideration received. 

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transfer of the promised good or service 

(i.e. the asset) to the customer. The asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control over such an asset. The 

moment of transfer of risks and rewards varies depending on the specific terms of the sale contract. 

In case if certain groups of customers receive state subsidies under specific conditions (for example, disability, veteran status, 

etc.) that are provided in the form of the reduced payment for heat, which the Group collects directly from the customer and 

the Group receives compensation payments from the relevant municipal authorities, then in such cases revenue is recognised 

based on the total amount that will be received from both the customer and government agencies. 

3.14 Government subsidies 

Subsidies provided by the Moscow Government to compensate the Group for the losses incurred as a result of selling heat to 

population at regulated reduced tariffs, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they were incurred.  

Subsidies received before the related period are recognised as advances received on subsidies. 

3.15 Finance income and expenses 

Financial income includes interest income on financial assets at amortized cost, income from participation in other 

organizations, as well as profit from changes in the fair value of financial assets. Interest income is recognised in the 

consolidated statement of other comprehensive income as accrued, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is 

recognised in profit or loss on the date when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 

Finance expenses include interest expenses on borrowings and lease liabilities, amortisation of discount on long-term accounts 

payable and any loss from changes of fair value of financial assets. All borrowing costs except for those capitalised are 

recognised in profit or loss for the period using the effective interest method.  

3.16 Income tax  

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss for the period except 

to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income, in this case it is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity.  

Current tax is an amount expected to be paid to, or recovered from tax authorities, in respect of taxable profits or losses for the 

year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and includes any adjustments to tax payable in 

respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised as liability using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is 

not recognised for the following temporary differences:  

 differences arising at the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction other than a business combination 

and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;  

 differences related to investments in subsidiaries and associates to the extent that it is probable that they will not be 

reversed in the foreseeable future.  

Moreover deferred tax is not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on 

the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 

they relate to income tax levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend 

to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.  

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 

temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that 

it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
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3.17 Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 

incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the Group). The Group’s 

management analyses on a regular basis the operating results of all operating segments for which discrete financial information 

is available, in order to make decisions about resources allocation between the segments and assessment of their financial 

performance (Note 28). 

Due to the fact that the management making operational decisions does not analyse assets and liabilities for each reportable 

segment, the Group does not disclose information on assets and liabilities by segments. 

3.18 Earnings per share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings/(loss) per share is 

calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings/(loss) per share are determined by adjusting profit or 

loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all 

dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees. There were no 

dilutive instruments as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019. 

3.19 New standards and interpretations 

A new standard IFRS 16 Leases became effective after1 January 2019 . The changes were applied by the Group while preparing 

current consolidated financial statements. The standard defines the principles of recognition, valuation, presentation and 

disclosure of information in the financial statements regarding lease agreements and obliges lessees to recognise right-of-use 

assets and lease liabilities under most lease agreements. 

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 16 Leases, the Group applied the new rules retrospectively, recognising 

the cumulative effect of the initial application of the standard as of 1 January 2019. Therefore, the comparative information as 

at 31 December 2018 and for the year ended 31 December 2018, presented in current consolidated financial statements, does 

not reflect the requirements of IFRS 16 Leases and is prepared on the basis of requirements of IAS 17 Leases. 

In accordance with IFRS 16 Leases the Group decided not to apply the standard to the short-term lease agreements and lease 

agreements with underlying asset of low value. 

The Group used the following allowed practical simplifications: 

 The standard is applied to contracts that were previously identified as leases using IAS 17 Leases and IFRIC 4 

Determination of the Sign of Leases in the Agreement and are not applied to contracts that were not previously 

identified as containing signs of a lease using IAS 17 Leases and IFRIC 4 Determination of the Sign of Leases in the 

Agreement; 

 The Group did not apply the new standard to leases that expired within twelve months from the date of transition; 

 Initial direct costs are excluded from the valuation of assets in the form of right of use at the date of initial recognition; 

 The Group applied a single discount rate for a portfolio of contracts with relatively similar characteristics.  

The effect of initial application of IFRS 16 Leases on the consolidated statement of financial position 

as at 1 January 2019 is presented in the table below:  

  
Balance as at 

1 January 2019 

The effect of initial 

application of IFRS 16 

Leases 

Adjusted balance as at 

1 January 2019 

Property, plant and equipment 181,375 8,569 189,944 

Accounts receivable and prepayments 2,584 (28) 2,556 

Deferred tax assets 2,097 272 2,369 

Total non-current assets 191,217 8,813 200,030 

Accounts receivable and prepayments 43,557 (15) 43,542 

Total current assets 50,117 (15) 50,102 

Total assets 241,493 8,798 250,291 

Accumulated loss (13,645) (854) (14,499) 

Non-controlling interest 60 (235) (175) 

Total equity 133,500 (1,089) 132,411 

Accounts payable and liabilities 4,918 7,779 12,697 

Total non-current liabilities 22,962 7,779 30,741 

Accounts payable and liabilities 67,498 2,108 69,606 

Total current liabilities 85,031 2,108 87,139 

Total liabilities 107,993 9,887 117,880 

Total equity and liabilities 241,493 8,798 250,291 
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The reconciliation of operating lease contractual obligations as at 31 December 2018 with recognised lease liabilities as at 

1 January 2019 is presented below: 

Operating lease liability as at 31 December 2018 disclosed applying IFRS (IAS) 17 Leases 8,220 

Exemption from recognition of short-term lease liability (56) 

Effect of applying judgement on the prolongation/indexation of lease agreements as at 1 January 2019 17,854 

Undiscounted liabilities additionally recognised based on the initial application of IFRS 16 Leases as 

at 1 January 2019 

26,018 

Effect of discount of lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 (16,131) 

Lease liabilities in accordance with IFRS 16 Leases as at 1 January 2019 9,887 

The weighted average borrowing rate applied by the Group in respect of lease liabilities at the date of initial application 

amounted to 11.5%. 

A new interpretation and some amendments to standards became effective starting from 1 January 2019: 

 IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (issued in June 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2019) provides requirements in respect of recognising and measuring of a tax liability or a tax 

asset when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments.  

 The amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (issued in October 2017 and effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). These amendments clarify that long-term interests in an 

associate or joint venture that form part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture should be accounted in 

accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.  

 The amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (issued in October 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2019). These amendments enable to measure at amortised cost some prepayable financial assets 

with negative compensation. 

 The amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (issued in December 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2019). These amendments clarify which borrowing costs are eligible for capitalisation in 

particular circumstances. 

 Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (issued in December 2017 and 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The changes specify how control (or joint control) 

should be taken into account for a business, that is a joint arrangement, if the organization already participates in this 

business. 

 The amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes (issued in December 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019). These amendments clarify income tax consequences of payments on instruments classified as 

equity. 

 The amendments to IAS 19 Employee benefits (issued in February 2018 and effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2019). These amendments specify the accounting procedure in case of change of the plan, its 

reduction or full repayment of obligations under the plan. 

The Group reviewed these interpretations and amendments to the standards during preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements. The interpretations and amendments to the standards did not affect significantly the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements. 

Some amendments to standards become effective effect for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. In particular 

the following amendments to standards were not early adopted by the Group: 

 Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations (issued in October 2018 and effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2020). The changes clarify the definition of business and make it easier to assess whether the 

acquired set of activities and assets is an asset group or business. 

 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policy, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors (issued in October 2018 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). 

The changes clarify and settle the definition of materiality and also make recommendations to improve consistency 

in its application when referred to in IFRS standards. 

 Amendments to the Financial Reporting Framework (issued in March 2018 and effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2020).  

 Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Valuation and IFRS 7 

Financial Instruments: Disclosure (issued in September 2019 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2020). The changes are related to the reform of the base interest rates and clarify the requirements for hedge 

accounting. 

 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (issued in January 2020 and effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2022). The changes clarify the criteria for classification of liabilities as short-term or 

long-term. 
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4 Use of critical judgments, estimates and assumptions 

4.1 Professional judgments, estimates and assumptions 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements the management applied a number of critical judgments, estimates and 

assumptions that affected the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses, reflected in consolidated financial statements. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 

which the estimates are revised and in any subsequent period in which such changes will have an impact on the consolidated 

financial statements. 

In particular, information about the most significant areas requiring estimates of uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is 

presented below: 

(i) Impairment allowance for property, plant and equipment. The Group determines existence of impairment indicators  

for property, plant and equipment, if at least one such impairment indicator exists, the management estimates the 

recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of the two values: net selling price of an asset or its value in 

use. The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the difference is recognised as an expense 

(impairment loss) in the profit or loss and included in accumulated depreciation and impairment. An impairment loss 

recognised for property, plant and equipment in prior years is reversed if there has been a positive change in the 

estimates used to determine the assets recoverable amount. The effect of applying such accounting estimate and 

judgment is included in Note 7. 

(ii) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment. The estimation of useful life for an item of property, plant and 

equipment is subject to management judgment based on experience with similar assets. In determining the useful life 

of an asset, management considers the following factors: the character of expected usage, estimated technical 

obsolescence, the physical wear and tear and the operating environment of assets. Changes in any of these conditions 

or estimates may result in adjustments to future depreciation rates. 

(iii) Loss allowance for expected credit losses of accounts receivable. An allowance for expected credit losses of accounts 

receivable is based on the Group’s management’s assessment of the lifetime expected credit losses. If there is a 

decrease in a major customer’s creditworthiness or actual defaults are higher than the estimates, the actual results may 

differ from the estimates. The effect of applying such accounting estimate and judgment is presented in Note 25. 

(iv) Valuation of right-of-use assets. For indefinite leases, the Group evaluates the term of the contract as equal to the 

useful life of non-current assets held in and physically related to the leased space. The same useful life is applied to 

determine the rate of depreciation of right-of-use assets. 

The present value of the rental payment is determined using the discount rate, which is the rate of non-cash government 

bond yields, taking into account the risk premium adjusted by the correction factor, which takes into account the actual 

assessment of the credit rating based of the Group based on past experience of borrowing. The effect of this accounting 

valuation and judgment is presented in Note 25. 

(v) Recognition of deferred tax asset. The recognised deferred tax asset represents the amount of income tax which could 

be offset against future income taxes and is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position. Deferred tax 

asset is recognised only if the related tax benefit is highly probable. The effect of applying such accounting estimate 

and judgment is presented in Note 23. 

The management has prepared these consolidated financial statements on the going concern basis. This management’s 

judgement is based on a review of the Group’s financial position, current plans, financial results, as well as on an analysis of 

the impact of the financial markets conditions on the Group’s operations. 

5 Capital and financial risk management 

Overview of basic approaches 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

 credit risk; 

 inflation risk; 

 liquidity risk; 

 market risk. 



PJSC MIPC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
(in millions of Russian Rubles)  

24 

 

 

This Note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the risks listed above, the Group’s objectives, policies 

and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Additional quantitative disclosures 

are included throughout these consolidated financial statements. 

Capital management 

The Group manages capital for all Group entities to continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future and, at the same time, 

to maximise profit for shareholders through optimising its gearing ratio. 

The Group’s capital structure depends on ratio between debt liabilities which include short-term and long-term borrowings, 

cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to PJSC MIPC company shareholders that includes share capital, retained 

earnings or accumulated loss and other reserves. 

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the reporting period.  

The management regularly reviews the capital structure using gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total 

capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings stated in the consolidated statement of financial position, net of cash and cash 

equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity, attributable to shareholders of PJSC MIPC, as shown in the consolidated 

statement of financial position, plus net debt amount.  

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were as follows: 

  31 December 2019   31 December 2018 

Borrowings (Note 16) (27,689) (25,911) 

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 14) 922 4,850 

Net debt (borrowed capital) (26,767) (21,061) 

Equity attributable to the Group’s shareholders (145,056) (133,440) 

Total equity (171,823) (154,501) 

Gearing ratio 15.58% 13.63% 

(i) Borrowing covenants 

The Group maintains an optimal capital structure by monitoring some credit covenants. As at 31 December 2019 and 

31 December 2018 the Group was in compliance with certain covenants foreseen in credit agreements:  

 the minimum level of index “EBITDA/Interest expenses”; 

 the maximum level of index “Total debt/EBITDA”; 

 maintaining a specified minimum level of credit turnover at bank accounts; 

 maintaining the value of net assets of PJSC MIPC in accordance with the annual balance sheet, verified by the results 

of the audit, in the amount not less than the amount of the authorised capital.   

(ii) Legislation requirements 

The Group is subject to the following capital requirements that have been established for joint stock companies by the 

legislation of the Russian Federation: 

 share capital cannot be lower than RUB 100,000; 

 if the share capital of the entity exceeds the statutory net assets of the entity, such entity must decrease its share capital 

to the value not exceeding its net assets; 

 if the minimum allowed share capital exceeds the statutory net assets of the entity, such entity is subject to liquidation. 

As at 31 December 2019 the Group was in compliance with the share capital requirements listed above. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations in time. The Group’s 

exposure to credit risk is associated with cash and cash equivalents in bank accounts, unsecured accounts receivable and loans 

issued. 

(i) Trade and other receivables 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. Geographically 

credit risk is concentrated in Moscow and Moscow Region. Creditworthiness of existing customers is periodically evaluated 

based on internal and external information regarding the history of settlements with these customers. The Group constantly 

analyses accounts receivable turnover ratios, maturity dates and takes appropriate measures on collection of debts due. 

Approximately 90-95% of the customers are the Group’s clients for a period longer than 2-3 years. 

In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to the accounts receivable type and maturity dates. 

Accounts receivable are divided into five major groups: current, overdue, long-term, doubtful and bad debts. When the accounts 

receivable are classified as overdue measures are taken to collect these receivables, including oral and written notifications to 
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a debtor, filing a claim, assessing late payment interest, etc. The Group establishes an allowance for expected credit losses of 

trade and other receivables and impairment provision for advances issued. The main components of this allowance include a 

specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for 

groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The estimated amount of loss 

allowance is determined on the basis of expected credit loss model, weighted by the probability of default and may be adjusted 

both upwards or downwards. In making such decision the management of the Group analyses the debtors’ creditworthiness and 

dynamics of debt repayment, changes in payment terms, as well as current overall economic conditions and forecast values of 

macroeconomic indicators. 

(ii) Guarantees 

The Group’s policy does not include provision for any financial guarantees for suppliers. 

(iii) Investments 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a high 

credit rating approved by the rating agency, except for related parties. Given these high credit ratings, the management does 

not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 

(iv) Bank deposits with the original maturity of three months or less 

Most part of bank deposits of the Group is located in bank with credit rating ruA- Positive estimated by RAEX (“Expert RA”). 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group manages 

its liquidity risk using procedures of detailed planning and forecasting of cash flows to provide sufficient funds for timely 

repayment of its obligations. 

The Group ensures the availability of funds in the amount sufficient for the timely fulfillment of its contractual obligations, 

including the servicing of financial obligations. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect 

the Group’s profit or the value of its financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 

market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while optimizing the return. 

(i) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk of the negative effect of changes in the exchange rates on the Group's financial results. Due to the fact 

that the Group sells services in the domestic market, its activities are not directly affected by foreign exchange rates fluctuations 

and the risk can be defined as low.  

The management of the Group does not establish an acceptable level of currency risk, but periodically reviews and assesses 

this risk. 

(ii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is in compliance with interest rate fluctuation which may affect the Group’s financial results. Changes in 

interest rates impact primarily on borrowings by changing either their fair value (fixed rate debt) or their future cash flows 

(variable rate debt).  

6 Related parties transactions  

PJSC Gazprom is the ultimate parent company of PJSC MIPC. The Government of the Russian Federation is the Group’s 

ultimate controlling party. 

The nature of the relationship with those related parties with which the Group entered into significant transactions or has 

significant outstanding balances is detailed below. 
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a) Transactions with Gazprom Group and its associates 

The information on operations with Gazprom Group and its associates as well as outstanding balances of these transactions is 

presented below: 

Revenue   

 
For the year ended          

31 December 2019 

For the year ended         

31 December 2018 

Revenue from heat energy transmission services 514 724 

Revenue from heat energy sales 164 174 

Revenue from hot water supply services 10 10 

Other revenue 3,283 887 

Total 3,971 1,795 

 

Operating expenses   

 For the year ended          

31 December 2019 

For the year ended             31 

December 2018 

Purchased heat energy 73,296 76,757 

Fuel expenses 6,758 7,400 

Water expenses 1,111 1,086 

Repair and maintenance 849 569 

Production services 234 213 

Rent 69 1,181 

Purchased electricity 50 92 

Other (income)/expenses (1,281) 1,474 

Total 81,086 88,772 

PJSC Mosenergo, a subsidiary of PJSC Gazprom, is the main supplier of heat energy for the Group. For the year ended 

31 December 2019 the Group’s purchases of heat energy from PJSC Mosenergo amounted to RUB 73,246 million (for the year 

ended 31 December 2018: RUB 76,700 million). 

reversal  of impairment loss of financial assets for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to RUB 8 million (for the year 

ended 31 December 2018 impairment loss amounted to RUB 1 million). 

Finance income and expenses   

 For the year ended             

31 December 2019 

For the year ended             

31 December 2018 

Interest income 17 31 

Interest on finance lease 13 14 

Total finance income 30 45 

Interest expenses on long-term accounts payable (887) (272) 

Interest expenses on lease agreements (491) - 

Interest expense (153) (37) 

Other finance expense (20) - 

Total finance expenses (1,551) (309) 

Net finance expenses (1,521) (264) 

 

Outstanding balances   

 
Outstanding balances 

as at 31 December 2019 

Outstanding balances 

as at 31 December 2018 

Short-term financial assets 5,150 - 

Advances for capital construction 1,697 1,494 

Long-term trade and other receivables 46 52 

Short-term trade and other receivables 221 410 

Allowance for expected credit losses on receivables - (8) 

Cash and cash equivalents 55 50 

Short-term advances to suppliers and prepaid expenses 6 46 

Total assets 7,175 2,044 

Long-term borrowings 1,275 1,330 

Short-term borrowings 10,007 404 

Long-term trade and other payables 771 1,343 

Short-term trade and other payables 26,130 31,440 

Long-term lease liabilities 3,994 - 

Short-term lease liabilities 1,046 - 

Short-term advances received from customers 16 11 

Total liabilities 43,239 34,528 
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As at 31 December 2019 the Group’s trade payables to PJSС Mosenergo amounted to RUB 23,409 million(as at 

31 December 2018: RUB 26,212 million). 

Acquisition and construction of non-current and current assets 

The Group enters into capital transactions with Gazprom Group and its associates. The summary of such transactions for the 

year ended 31 December 2019 and for the year ended 31 December 2018 as well as the amount of contractual obligations as at 

31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 are presented below: 

     For the year ended                   

31 December 2019 

For the year ended                   

31 December 2018 

Acquisition of non-current and current assets 8,099 8,089 

incl. capitalised borrowing expenses  76 - 

Addition of fixed assets in the amount of RUB 1,259 million was added to acquisition of non-current and current assets in the 

year ended 31 December 2019, which were received from LLC Gazprom energoholding as input in share capital of PJSC MIPC 

in April 2019.  

The outstanding amount of contractual obligations on acquisition and construction of property, plant and equipment to 

Gazprom Group and its associates as at 31 December 2019 is RUB 13,711 million, including VAT (as at 31 December 2018: 

RUB 16,029 million, including VAT). 

b) Transactions with other state-controlled entities 

Revenue 

 For the year ended          

31 December 2019 

For the year ended             

31 December 2018 

Revenue from heat energy sales 65,815 70,720 

Revenue from hot water supply services 25,351 25,127 

Revenue from connection services to heat and hot water supply system 2,310 3,808 

Revenue from transfer of water 2,140 2,073 

Other revenue 324 542 

Total  95,940 102,270 

Operating expenses 

 For the year ended          

31 December 2019 

For the year ended             

31 December 2018 

Water expenses 7,129 6,887 

Measurement units maintenance expenses 2,954 2,903 

Taxes other than income tax 2,627 2,109 

Production services 2,277 2,294 

Income tax expenses 1,050 969 

Purchased heat energy 1,551 1,584 

Purchased electricity  932 1,393 

Rent - 475 

Income from disposal of property, plant and equipment and other assets (6,047) (3,841) 

Other income (221) (1,693) 

Total 12,252 13,080 

Reverse of impairment loss on financial assets for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to RUB 2,304 million (for the 

year ended 31 December 2018 impairment loss amounted to RUB 3,705 million). 

Finance income and expenses 

 
For the year ended            

31 December 2019 

For the year ended            

31 December 2018 

Interest income 119 149 

Other finance income - 210 

Total finance income 119 359 

Interest expense on lease agreements (188) - 

Total finance expense (69) - 

Net finance (expenses)/income (69) 359 
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Outstanding balances 

  Outstanding balances  

as at 31 December 2019 

Outstanding balances 

as at 31 December 2018 

Long-term trade and other receivables  5,950 2,162 

Allowance for expected credit losses of long-term receivables (1) - 

Short-term trade and other receivables 31,313 34,869 

Allowance for expected credit losses of short-term receivables (6,648) (9,434) 

Subsidies receivable 690 263 

Income tax prepayments 581 78 

Cash and cash equivalents  412 1 229 

Short-term financial assets 353 353 

Allowance for expected credit losses of short-term financial assets (353) - 

Tax prepayments 200 512 

Advances for capital construction 29 95 

Short-term advances to suppliers and prepaid expenses 9 21 

Allowance for impairment of advances to suppliers and prepaid 

expenses 
(1) (3) 

Total 32,534 30,145 

Long-term borrowings - 7,600 

Short-term borrowings 1,176 16,577 

Short-term trade and other payables 1,956 2,368 

Long-term lease liabilities 1,201 - 

Short-term lease liabilities 415 - 

Long-term advances received from customers 3,251 1,089 

Short-term advances received from customers 10,479 8,779 

Deferred income 1,419 67 

Taxes payable 973 1,111 

Advances received on subsidies 23 30 

Income tax payable 3 455 

Total 20,896 38,076 

Acquisition and construction of non-current and current assets 

The Group enters into capital transactions with state-controlled entities. The summary of such transactions for the year ended 

31 December 2019 and for the year ended 31 December 2018 is presented below: 

     For the year ended                   

31 December 2019 

For the year ended                   

31 December 2018 

Acquisition of non-current and current assets 2,110 3,792 

incl. capitalised borrowing expenses  1,234 1,703 

The outstanding amount of contractual obligations on acquisition and construction of property, plant and equipment to state-

controlled entities as at 31 December 2019 is RUB 348 million, including VAT (as at 31 December 2018: RUB 269 million, 

including VAT). 

c) Transactions with JSC FSC 

Some operations in the wholesale electricity and capacity market (hereinafter referred to as the WECM) are carried out by 

means of commission agreements concluded with JSC FSC. The current system of financial settlements in the JSC FSC does 

not allow the end customers to receive information about transactions and outstanding balances with the WECM in automatic 

mode.  

The details of main transactions between the Group and JSC FSC are presented below: 

 For the year ended                   

31 December 2019 

For the year ended             

31 December 2018 

Revenue 3 6 

Other revenue 3 6 

Operating expenses (262) (445) 

Purchased electricity (262) (445) 

 

 

Outstanding balances  

as at 31 December 2019 

Outstanding balances 

as at 31 December 2018 

Trade and other receivables - 1 

Total assets - 1 

Trade and other payables (8) (18) 

Total liabilities (8) (18) 
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d) Transactions with key management personnel  

Key management personnel (the members of the Board of Directors and top executives of the Group) received the following 

remuneration, which is included in staff costs: 

 For the year ended                   

31 December 2019 

For the year ended             

31 December 2018 

Wages and bonuses 313 315 

Social contributions 56 54 

Remuneration for membership in the Board of Directors 6 7 

Termination benefits 10 3 

Total 385 379 

 

 

Outstanding balances  

as at 31 December 2019 

Outstanding balances 

as at 31 December 2018 

Wages payable 10 12 

Total 10 12 

The management fee to LLC Gazprom energoholding for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to RUB 126 million 

(for the year ended 31 December 2018: RUB 121 million). 

7 Property, plant and equipment  

 
Right-of-

use asset 

Heating 

networks 

Building 

and 

facilities 

Machinery   

and 

equipment 

Transport 

and other 

Construc

tion in 

progress 

Total 

Book value        

Balance as at 31 December 2017 -     223,817         24,653              41,893    7,851    34,554     332,768    

Additions - 5 2 13 1 31,806 31,827 

Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 55 - 1 - 56 

Disposals - (1,221) (182) (762) (93) (424) (2,682) 

Transfers - 20,911 1,956 5,336 518 (28,721) - 

Reclassification to assets held for sale - - (83) (16) (42) - (141) 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 - 243,512         26,401              46,464           8,236        37,215    361,828    

Initial recognition as at 

1 January 2019 
9,930 - - - - - 9,930 

Additions 672 97 - 2 9 37,187 37,967 

Change in lease agreements terms (881) - - - - - (881) 

Disposals (181) (3,565) (1,962) (1,241) (202) (1,206) (8,357) 

Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - 10 8 - 18 

Disposals of subsidiaries - (22) - (15) (8) (17) (62) 

Transfers - 36,378 471 2,264 521 (39,634) - 

Reclassification to assets held for sale - (3) (140) (11) (56) - (210) 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 9,540 276,397 24,770 47,473 8,508 33,545 400,233 
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Right-of-

use asset 

Heating 

networks 

Building 

and 

facilities 

Machinery   

and 

equipment 

Transport 

and other 

Construc

tion in 

progress 

Total 

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment  
       

Balance as at 31 December 2017 -  (118,255) (11,377)  (25,716)  (4,806)  (9,376) (169,530) 

Depreciation charge - (8,756) (674) (2,785) (933) - (13,148) 

Disposals - 865 136 611 76 87 1,775 

Transfer of impairment loss - (3,400) (153) (959) (134) 4,646 - 

Impairment loss accrual - (1,628) (57) (431) (33) (3,249) (5,398) 

Impairment loss reversal - 3,673 280 629 308 900 5,790 

Reclassification to assets held for sale - - 22 10 26 - 58 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 - (127,501)  (11,823)       (28,641) (5,496) (6,992) (180,453) 

Initial recognition as at  

1 January 2019 
(1,361) - - - - - (1,361) 

Depreciation charge (1,340) (9,188) (646) (3,269) (921) - (15,364) 

Disposals 93 1,161 602 1,214 568 634 4,271 

Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - (6) (7) - (13) 

Disposals of subsidiaries - - - 7 8 - 15 

Impairment loss accrual (487) (9,924) (656) (1,025) (107) (1,578) (13,777) 

Impairment loss reversal 459 6,536 619 849 464 463 9,390 

Transfer of impairment loss - (1,504) (93) (327) (35) 1,959 - 

Reclassification to assets held for sale - 1 22 5 53 - 81 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 (2,636)  (140,419)    (11,975)       (30,824)     (5,843)    (5,514) (197,211) 

Net book value 

Balance as at 31 December 2017 - 105,562  13,276   16,177  3,045   25,178  163,238  

Balance as at 31 December 2018 - 116,011  14,578  17,823  2,740  30,223  181,375  

Balance as at 31 December 2019 6,904 135,978  12,795   16,650    2,664  28,031  203,022  

Right-of-use assets mainly relate to land, buildings and facilities. 

Capitalised borrowing costs 

Capitalised borrowing costs for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to RUB 1,998 million (for the year ended 

31 December 2018: RUB 1,703 million) with the capitalisation rate 7.9% (for the year ended 31 December 2018: 7.0%). 

The capitalisation rate represents the weighted average rate of borrowings raised.  

Property, plant and equipment are not pledged as collateral. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

As at 31 December 2019 the Group determined the recoverable amount of its property, plant and equipment, construction in 

progress and right-of0use assets. As a result of valuation the impairment loss in the amount of RUB 13,777 million was accrued 

and the impairment loss in the amount of RUB 9,390 million for previously impaired items was reversed. The result of the 

Group’s impairment test of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress and right-of-use assets is impairment loss 

in the amount of RUB 4,387 million. 

The following assumptions were used in determining the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment as at 

31 December 2019:  

 cash flows are projected based on the actual experience and operational results for the previous years, and the Groups 

business plan for 2020; 

 for the purposes of the analysis 69 CGU have been considered as at 31 December 2019 (as at 31 December 2018: 

71 CGU): these CGU were allocated at the level of each production chain from the source to the customer; 

 discount rate reflects all relevant risks. As at 31 December 2019 the discount rate amounted to 10.47% (as at 

31 December 2018: 11.02%). 

With the increase/decrease in the discount rate of 0.5% the amount of impairment loss as at 31 December 2019 would 

increase/decrease by RUB 3,931 million. 
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For the year ended 31 December 2019: 

 reversed impairment loss for non-functional capital investments amounted to RUB 3 million; 

 disposed impairment loss for non-functional capita l investments amounted to RUB 52 million due to disposal non-

functional capital investments. 

8 Assets classified as held for sale 

As at 31 December 2019 the Group was in the process of disposing of non-core assets in the amount of RUB 214 million (as 

at 31 December 2018: RUB 159 million). The Group plans to sell these assets during 2020. 

9 Intangible assets 

  Software Other Total 

Book value    

Balance as at 31 December 2017 8,204 - 8,204 

Acquisitions 685 24 709 

Disposals (627) - (627) 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 8,262 24 8,286 

Acquisitions 1,052 12 1,064 

Disposals (3,944) - (3,944) 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 5,370 36 5,406 

Accumulated amortisation    

Balance as at 31 December 2017 (5,641) - (5,641) 

Amortisation for the period (1,509) (4) (1,513) 

Disposals 627 - 627 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 (6,523) (4) (6,527) 

Amortisation for the period (805) (6) (811) 

Disposals 3,944 - 3,944 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 (3,384) (10) (3,394) 

Net book value    

Balance as at 31 December 2017 2,563 - 2,563 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 1,739 20 1,759 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 1,986 26 2,012 

10 Inventories 

 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Materials  449 383 

Spare parts 241 247 

Other inventories 315 310 

Total 1,005 940 

Allowance for impairment of inventories amounted to RUB 226 million as at 31 December 2019 (as at 31 December 2018: 

RUB 267 million).  

The Group’s inventories are not pledged as collateral as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. 

11 Financial assets 

The Group owns 55.78% of shares of Mutual Investment Fund Perlovsky and is entitled to receive a cash corresponding to this 

share from the mutual investment fund, without control over the assets of the fund. Assets of Mutual Investment Fund Perlovsky 

are operated by an independent management company. Investments in Mutual Investment Fund Perlovsky are classified by the 

Group as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
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 % share Carrying value 

  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Mutual Investment Fund Perlovsky 55.78% 55.78% 864 741 

Total     864 741 

Increase in fair value of financial assets measured through profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to 

RUB 123 million due to increase of Mutual Investment Fund Perlovsky net assets and was recognised in profit or loss (for the 

year ended 31 December 2018: loss in the amount of RUB 28 million).  

As at 31 December 2019 short-term financial assets include a loan with a variable interest rate issued to PJSC Gazprom in the 

amount of RUB 5,150 million, organized as part intra-group financing (cash pooling) of PJSC Gazprom (as at 31 December 

2019: RUB nil million). 

12 Accounts receivable and prepayments 

 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Financial assets   

Trade receivables  42,609 49,692 

Other receivables 1,083 1,014 

Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables  (14,914) (17,066) 

Allowance for expected credit losses of other receivables  (174) (38) 

Total financial assets 28,604 33,602 

Non-financial assets   

Other non-financial receivables 18,593 12,189 

VAT recoverable 111 399 

 Prepaid taxes, other than income tax 89 113 

Advances to suppliers and prepaid expenses 82 143 

Allowance for impairment of other non-financial receivables (502) (293) 

Allowance for impairment of advances to suppliers and prepaid expenses (8) (12) 

Total non-financial assets 18,365 12,539 

Non-current assets 6,804 2,584 

Current assets 40,165 43,557 

Total trade and other receivables 46,969 46,141 

Long-term accounts receivable as at 31 December 2019 include advances to suppliers in the amount of RUB 29 million (as at 

31 December 2018: RUB 29 million), trade receivables in the amount of RUB 77 million (as at 31 December 2018: 

RUB 52 million) and other non-financial receivables in the amount of RUB 6,698 million (as at 31 December 2018: 

RUB 2,503 million). 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk and impairment losses related to accounts receivables are disclosed in Note 25.  

13 Subsidies receivable/advances received on subsidies 

            31 December 2019         31 December 2018 

 
Subsidies 

receivable 

Advances 

received on 

subsidies 

Subsidies 

receivable 

Advances 

received on 

subsidies 

Subsidies from the State Center of Household Subsidies  622 - - - 

Subsidies from the Moscow Government 68 23 263 30 

Total 690 23 263 30 

14 Cash and cash equivalents 

 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Bank balances 679 1,446 

Deposits with maturity of less than three months 243 3,404 

Total 922 4,850 
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As at 31 December 2019 restricted cash includes the minimum balance on settlement accounts in the amount of 

RUB 413 million (as at 31 December 2018: RUB 702 million). As at 31 December 2019 there arrested cash amounted to 

RUB 2 million (as at 31 December 2018: RUB 1 million). 

The information about deposits with maturity of less than three months is presented in the table below: 

 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Currency   Balances Currency Balances 

PJSC Sberbank of Russia Russian Ruble 190 Russian Ruble - 

Gazprombank (Joint-stock Company) Russian Ruble 41 Russian Ruble 28 

PJSC Bank VTB Russian Ruble 12 Russian Ruble 46 

JSC BANK ROSSYIA Russian Ruble - Russian Ruble 3,330 

Total  243  3,404 

15 Equity and reserves 

Share capital and share premium 

On 25 April 2019 LLC Gazprom energoholding transferred to PJSC MIPC property in the total amount of RUB 1,259 million 

as a contribution to the share capital. After the state registration of the transferred property in October 2019, the share capital 

of PJSC MIPC was increased by placing 6,810,811 additional ordinary shares with a nominal value of 100 rubles per a share 

for a total amount of RUB 681 million, share premium amounted to RUB 578 million. As at 31 December 2019 the share 

capital of Group consists of 256,271,317 ordinary shares with a total cost of RUB 25,628 million (as at 31 December 2018: 

249,460,465 shares with a total cost of RUB 24,947 million). 

Treasury shares 

On 23 January 2019 the Group repurchased its own shares from shareholders who claimed for redemption in connection with 

the reorganisation of PJSC MIPC in the form of merger with its subsidiary LLC TSK Novaya Moskva. The total amount of 

redeemed ordinary shares is 38,054 with the total value of RUB 7 million.  

As at 31 December 2019 treasury shares comprised 23,298,456 ordinary shares with total value of RUB 16,971 million (as at 

31 December 2018: 23,260,402 ordinary shares with total value of RUB 16,964 million). 

Non-controlling interest 

As at 1 January 2019 the opening balance of the non-controlling interest was adjusted for the amount of the impairment loss 

on right-of-use assets in accordance with the initial application of the new standard IFRS 16 Leases for the amount of 

RUB 235 million (Note 3.19).  

For the year ended 31 December 2019 profit of LLC TSK Mosenergo amounted to RUB 833 million, from which 

RUB 208 million was allocated to a non-controlling interest in accordance with the percentage of ownership. 

In February 2019 the share capital of LLC TSK Mosenergo was increased by means of contribution of property owned by 

PJSC Mosenergo. 

Dividends 

In accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation, the distributable reserves of the Company are limited to the 

retained earnings recorded in the Company’s statutory financial statements prepared in accordance with Russian Accounting 

Rules.  
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16 Borrowings  

Table below provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings, which are measured 

under the effective interest rate method. More detailed information on the Group’s exposure to the interest rate risk and liquidity 

risk is disclosed in Notes 5, 25. 

 

  Nominal 

interest rate as at 

period end, % 

Year of 

maturity 

31 December  

2019 

31 December  

2018 

Short-term borrowings with fixed interest rate     

Short-term part of long-term bonds     

Bonds series 001P-01 8.65 2019 140 - 

Bonds series 001P-02 8.45 2019 80 - 

Bonds series 001P-03 6.80 2019 43 - 

Borrowings     

PJSC Sberbank 7.30-8.65 2019 - 16,574 

Short-term part of long-term borrowings     

PJSC Bank VTB 7.90 2020 - 3 

Short-term borrowings with variable interest rate 

Borrowings     

PJSC Bank VTB 7,98 2020 10,000 - 

PJSC Sberbank 7,74 2020 1,175 - 

Short-term part of long-term borrowings      

PJSC Mosenergo 7,42 2019 7 - 

Borrowing     

PJSC Mosenergo 6,30-7,70 2019 - 404 

Total short-term borrowings   11,445 16,981 

Long-term borrowings with fixed interest rate     

Long-term bonds     

Bonds series 001P-01 8,65 2025 4,993 - 

Bonds series 001P-02 8,45 2025 4,988 - 

Bonds series 001P-03 6,80 2025 4,988 - 

Borrowings     

PJSC Bank VTB 7,90 2020 - 7,600 

Long-term borrowings with variable interest rate     

Borrowings     

PJSC Mosenergo 7,95-8,25 2020-2023 1,275 1,330 

Total long-term borrowings   16,244 8,930 

Total   27,689 25,911 

All borrowings are denominated in RUB. There is no pledge of property rights under borrowings agreements as at 

31 December 2019 (as at 31 December 2018: RUB 682 million). 

On 6 March 2019 PJSC MIPC placed on the Moscow Exchange the issue of exchange bonds of the 001P-01 series with a 

nominal value of RUB 5,000 million under the program of exchanged bonds 4-55039-E-001P-02E from 18 October 2018. The 

annual interest rate is 8.65%. The maturity period of the bonds is 6 years, the holders can exercise the right of early redemption 

after 3 years from the placement date at par value plus accrued interest.  

On 24 April 2019 PJSC MIPC placed on the Moscow Exchange the issue of exchange bonds of the 001P-02 series with a 

nominal value of RUB 5,000 million under the program of exchanged bonds 4-55039-E-001P-02E from 18 October 2018. The 

annual interest rate is 8.45%. The maturity period of the bonds is 6 years, the holders can exercise the right of early redemption 

after 2 years from the placement date at par value plus accrued interest.  

On 15 November 2019 PJSC MIPC placed on the Moscow Exchange the issue of exchange bonds of the 001P-03 series with 

a nominal value of RUB 5,000 million under the program of exchanged bonds 4-55039-E-001P-02E from 18 October 2018. 

The annual interest rate is 6.8%. The maturity period of the bonds is 6 years, the holders can exercise the right of early 

redemption after 2 years from the placement date at par value plus accrued interest.  

17 Provision for employee benefits 

On dismissal due to the retirement employees of PJSC MIPC are paid one-time retirement benefit according to length of 

continuous service. Retirement benefit obligations of the Group as at 31 December 2019 amounted to RUB 218 million (as at 

31 December 2018: RUB 215 million). 
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18 Accounts payable and liabilities 

 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Financial liabilities   

Trade payables 27,058 29,066 

Payables for the acquisition and construction of property, plant and equipment 10,164 14,040 

Lease liabilities 8,565 - 

Other payables 21 46 

Total financial liabilities 45,808 43,152 

Non-financial liabilities   

Advances received from customers 33,130 26,457 

Taxes payable 973 1,111 

Other payables and provisions 1,831 1,696 

Total non-financial liabilities  35,934 29,264 

Short-term liabilities 68,043 67,498 

Long-term liabilities 13,699 4,918 

Total trade and other payables 81,742 72,416 

Other payables of the Group include the amount of provision for litigation claims. For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 the movement of provision for litigation claims was the following: 

  2019 2018 

Balance as at 1 January 329 171 

Accrual 244 287 

Utilisation  (184) (31) 

Reversal (214) (98) 

Balance as at 31 December 175 329 

Taxes payable are represented by the following items:  

 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Property tax  493 413 

Social contributions  289 379 

VAT payable  60 196 

Other taxes payable 131 123 

Total 973 1,111 

The Group’s exposure to currency risk and liquidity risk related to trade payables are disclosed in Notes 5, 25. 

19 Revenue 

 
For the year ended    

31 December 2019 

For the year ended    

31 December 2018 

Revenue from heat energy sales 108,281 114,615 

Revenue from hot water supply services 34,311 34,024 

Revenue from connection services to heat and hot water supply system 9,829 9,435 

Revenue from transfer of water 2,140 2,073 

Revenue from heat energy transmission services 514 724 

Other revenue 4,303 1,970 

Total 159,378 162,841 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, advances received from customers as at the beginning of the 

relevant period were recognised as revenue in the amount of RUB 8,805 million and RUB 8,508 million, respectively. 

Revenue from services rendered to PJSC Mosenergo, the subsidiary of PJSC Gazprom, for the year ended 31 December 2019 

in the amount of RUB 565 million was settled by offset of mutual claims (for the year ended 31 December 2018: 

RUB 832 million). 
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20 Operating expenses 

 For the year ended      

31 December 2019 

For the year ended    

31 December 2018 

Purchased heat energy  75,446 78,880 

Staff costs 16,938 17,069 

Amortisation and depreciation 16,174 14,661 

Water expenses 8,303 8,123 

Fuel expenses 6,881 7,602 

Purchased electricity 5,815 5,672 

Repair and maintenance 4,838 4,586 

Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) on non-financial assets  4,611 (90) 

Measurement units maintenance expenses 2,955 2,903 

Production services 2,628 2,802 

Taxes other than income tax 2,627 2,109 

Material expenses 2,167 1,265 

Software services 1,070 1,091 

Security services 830 658 

Bank services 399 361 

Utilities expenses 387 338 

Professional and consulting services 386 347 

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary 365 - 

Rent 173 2,215 

Communication services 132 121 

Occupational safety and health expenses  59 181 

Change in the provision for litigation claims  30 189 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and other assets (7,476) (4,957) 

Other expenses/(income) 371 (1,396) 

Total 146,109 144,730 

 

Line “(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment loss on non-financial assets” includes the following expenses: 

 

 
For the year ended   

31 December 2019 

For the year ended 

31 December 2018 

Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) on property, plant and equipment 4,387 (392) 

Impairment loss on non-financial receivables 234 172 

Impairment loss on assets classified as held for sale  21 90 

(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment loss on inventories (31) 40 

Total 4,611  (90) 

 

21 Staff costs 

 For the year ended    

31 December 2019 

For the year ended    

31 December 2018 

Wages and bonuses 11,283 11,772 

Social contributions for wages and bonuses 3,335 3,363 

Liabilities for unused vacation and rewards 1,234 1,024 

Social contributions for unused vacation and rewards 354 283 

Other personnel expenses 732 627 

Total 16,938 17,069 

 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 total pension contributions amounted to RUB 2,728 million (for the year ended 

31 December 2018: RUB 2,789 million). 
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22 Finance income and expenses 

 For the year ended         

31 December 2019 

For the year ended    

31 December 2018 

Finance income   

Interest income 303 301 

Income from changes of fair value of financial assets 123 - 

Dividend income 84 72 

Interest income on lease agreements 13 14 

Other finance income - 231 

Total  523 618 

Finance expenses    

Interest expense (2,191) (1,758) 

Interest expense on lease agreements (902) - 

Interest expense on long-term accounts payable (887) (272) 

Loss from changes of fair value of financial assets - (28) 

Other finance expenses (20) - 

Total  (4,000) (2,058) 

Incl. capitalised interest expenses on borrowings relating to qualifying assets 1,998 1,703 

Net finance (expense)/income recognised in profit or loss (1,479) 263 
 

Total amount of interest paid for the year ended 31 December 2019 and for the year ended 31 December 2018 was 

RUB 2,787 million and RUB 1,710 million, respectively. 

23 Income tax  

 For the year ended      

31 December 2019 

For the year ended 

31 December 2018 

Current income tax expense   

Current period (1,039) (970) 

Over-accrued in prior periods (11) 1 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (551) (2,002) 

Total (1,601) (2,971) 

The Group’s applicable tax rate is 20% which represents the Russian corporate income tax. 

Reconciliation of theoretical and actual income tax recognised in profit or loss for the period is presented below: 

 For the year ended    

31 December 2019 

For the year ended 

31 December 2018 

Profit before tax 12,749 12,181 

Income tax at applicable tax rate of 20% (2,550) (2,436) 

Non-deductible/non-taxable differences 960 (536) 

Over-accrued in prior periods (11) 1 

Total income tax (1,601) (2,971) 

Profit for the reporting period 11,148 9,210 
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Deferred tax  

Tax effect of temporary differences for the year ended 31 December 2019 is presented in the table below: 

  
1 January 

2019 

Recognised in 

profit or loss 

Effect of the initial 

application of IFRS 16 
Acquired  

31 December 

2019 

Property, plant and equipment (9,665) 607 (1,705) (1) (10,764) 

Intangible assets 16 (7) - - 9 

Financial investments 4 16 - - 20 

Inventory (93) (19) - - (112) 

Trade and other receivables 123 (271) - - (148) 

Borrowings - (6) - - (6) 

Accounts payable and liabilities 356 (333) 1,977 - 2,000 

Other items  181 66 - 1 248 

Tax loss carried forward 2,276 (604) - 8 1,680 

Total (6,802) (551) 272 8 (7,073) 

Tax effect of temporary differences for the year ended 31 December 2018 is presented in the table below: 

  
1 January 

2018 

Recognised in 

profit or loss 

Effect of the initial 

application of IFRS 9 
Acquired  

31 December 

2018 

Property, plant and equipment (8,536) (1,124) - (5) (9,665) 

Intangible assets 12 4 - - 16 

Financial investments 42 (41) - 3 4 

Inventory (63) (30) - - (93) 

Trade and other receivables (119) (205) 447 - 123 

Accounts payable and liabilities 508 (152) - - 356 

Other items  244 (63) - - 181 

Tax loss carried forward 2,651 (391) - 16 2,276  

Total (5,261) (2,002) 447 14 (6,802) 

Tax effect of temporary differences resulted is accounted with the application of 20% rate, settled by the legislation of the 

Russian Federation 

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The details of the 

deferred tax balances (after the offset) presented in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 

  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Deferred tax assets  1,620 2,097 

Deferred tax liabilities (8,693) (8,899) 

Deferred tax liabilities, net  (7,073) (6,802) 

24 Earnings per share 

The calculation of basic earnings per share was based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding, calculated as follows: 

 For the year ended        

31 December 2019 

For the year ended    

31 December 2018 

Outstanding shares (weighted average number) 250,617,377 248,176,279 

Treasury shares (weighted average number) (23,296,162) (23,260,402) 

Weighted average number of outstanding shares 227,321,215 224,915,877 

The calculation of profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders is presented below: 

 
For the year ended    

31 December 2019 

For the year ended    

31 December 2018 

Weighted average number of outstanding shares 227,321,215 224,915,877 

Profit attributable to the shareholders of PJSC MIPC for the period 10,940 9,842 

Earnings per share (basic and diluted) (in Russian Rubles)  

attributable to the shareholders of PJSC MIPC 
48.1 43.8 

There are no instruments with dilutive effect as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. 

  



PJSC MIPC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
(in millions of Russian Rubles)  

39 

 

 

25 Financial instruments  

(а) Borrowing covenants 

The Group must comply with certain covenants related to borrowings. As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 the 

Group was in compliance with these covenants. 

(b) Classification and fair value 

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 the following assets and liabilities measured at fair value were recognised in 

the Group’s consolidated balance sheet: 
 

   Fair value 

   Carrying amount 
Level  

1 

Level                     

2 

Level  

3 
Total 

Balance as at 31 December 2019       

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 

loss 
 864 - - 864 864 

Balance as at 31 December 2018       

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 

loss 
 741 - - 741 741 

 

The following table represents methods used for measurement of fair value for Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: 

Financial instruments Measurement 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss On the basis of the share’s value of a mutual investment fund, 

estimated by a professional appraiser based on the carrying 

amount of its net assets at the reporting date 
 

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 the estimated fair value of financial assets and liabilities which are not 

recognised at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position is reasonable approximation to their carrying amount 

and is not disclosed. 

 (b) Credit risk 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit risk to which the Group is exposed. The maximum 

exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is as follows: 

  Carrying amount 

  Note 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Accounts receivable and prepayments  12 28,604 33,602 

Short-term financial assets 11 5,150 353 

Cash and cash equivalents 14 922 4,850 

Long-term financial assets 11 864 741 

Subsidies receivable  13 690 263 

Total   36,230 39,809 

(i) The credit quality of accounts receivable 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables by revenue types at the reporting date is as follows: 

  
31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Revenue from heat energy sales, hot water supply and transmission services 25,143 30,804 

Other revenue 2,552 1,822 

Total  27,695 32,626 

Trade receivables mainly include receivables from large, well-established companies that purchase heat energy and hot water.  

Each of the Group’s customers contributes less than 3% of the total trade receivables amount (excluding receivables from 

companies disclosed in Note 6), therefore there is no concentration of credit risk. 

The most significant customers of the Group are LLC PIK-Komfort, GBU Gilichnik Krykovo and DMUP EKPO, accounts 

receivable attributable to these customers as at 31 December 2019 amounted to RUB 614 million, RUB 581 million, RUB 534 

million respectively (as at 31 December 2018: RUB 466 million, RUB 163 million, RUB 466 million respectively). 

  



PJSC MIPC 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
(in millions of Russian Rubles)  

40 

 

 

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the aging of accounts receivable was as follows: 

  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

  
Gross book 

value 
Impairment 

Gross book 

value 
Impairment 

Not overdue 10,870 (351) 16,692 (1,301) 

0-181 days overdue 8,723 (905) 9,218 (2,056) 

181-365 days overdue 5,350 (1,690) 8,143 (2,781) 

Overdue for more than 2 years 18,749 (12,142) 16,653 (10,966) 

  43,692 (15,088) 50,706 (17,104) 

The movement in the expected credit loss allowance for accounts receivable and financial assets and the impairment allowance 

for non-financial accounts receivable  for the year ended 31 December 2019 and for the year ended 31 December 2018 was as 

follows: 

 2019 2018 

Balance as at 1 January 17,419 9,399 

Effect of the initial application of IFRS 9 - 2,238 

Adjusted balance as at 1 January 17,419 11,637 

Accrual 4,728 11,420 

Write-off of receivables against previously accrued allowance  (709) (612) 

(Disposa)l/addition upon acquisition of entity under common control (10) 29 

Reversal (5,452) (5,055) 

Balance as at 31 December 15,976 17,419 

As at 31 December 2019 the impairment allowance for advances for capital construction was accrued in the amount of 

RUB 33 million (as at 31 December 2018: RUB 22 million), the impairment allowance for other non-financial receivables 

amounted to RUB 502 million (as of 31 December 2018: RUB 293 million), the allowance for expected credit losses for loans 

issued amounted to RUB 353 million (as at 31 December 2018: no). All Group’s trade and other receivables are unsecured. 

The Group does not have a formal procedure for analysing the creditworthiness of new customers due to the fact that the supply 

of heat energy is a monopoly service. If the client, that is a commercial enterprise, does not repay the debt on time, the Group 

sends a notification requiring payment within the next 10 days and, in the event of further non-payment, the Group has the 

right to terminate services to that customer. Regarding housing organisations and some state-controlled organisations, this right 

is limited to the termination of hot water supply only, but not heating. 

In determining expected credit loss allowance for accounts receivable, the Group’s management analyses the possibility of its 

collection. The allowance is determined based on the past experience and is regularly reviewed considering the facts and 

circumstances at each reporting date. 

The management believes that expected credit loss allowance for trade and other receivables in the consolidated financial 

statements is sufficient to cover the Group’s credit risk in respect of this type of financial assets.  

The Group’s policies and procedures for attracting new clients and assessing customers’ solvency are disclosed in Note 5. 

(ii) Credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents 

The table below presents the credit quality analysis of banks by external credit ratings, assigned to banks in which the Group 

holds its cash. Corresponding ratings are published by RAEX (“Expert RA”), Moody’s and other credit rating agencies. The 

ratings are conditionally presented in the classification applied by “Expert RA”:  

Rating 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

ruAA stable 326 3,571 

ruAAA stable 197 978 

ruA-  positive 159 - 

ruAA+ stable 55 50 

No credit rating 185  251 

 922 4,850  

(с) Liquidity risk 

The table below presents information on the contractual maturity of financial liabilities, including estimates of interest payable 

but excluding offset effects. Regarding cash flows included in the maturity analysis, the management does not expect them to 

occur significantly earlier, or in significantly different amounts. 
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As at 31 December 2019: 

 
Carrying 

amount 

Contractual 

cash flows 
0-6 months 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years 

over 5 

years 

Non-derivative financial liabilities        

Unsecured borrowings 27,689 34,858 2,371 10,742 1,277 5,021 15,447 

Accounts payable and liabilities 45,808 59,194 37,042 2,092 4,896 4,638 10,526 

Total 73,497 94,052 39,413 12,834 6,173 9,659 25,973 

As at 31 December 2018: 

 Carrying 

amount 

Contractual 

cash flows 
0-6 months 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-3 years 

over 5 

years 

Non-derivative financial liabilities        

Unsecured borrowings 25,911 27,703 12,390 5,909 7,827 1,577 - 

Accounts payable and liabilities 43,152 44,060 41,485 984 664 927 - 

Total 69,063 71,763 53,875 6,893 8,491 2,504 - 

All groups of financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost.  

 (d) Market risk 

(i) Currency risk 

The Group operates in the Russian Federation. Most of the Group’s transactions are denominated in RUB. 

(ii) Interest rate risk 

The Group’s profit and operating cash flows are not substantially exposed to the changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to 

the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the changes of interest rates of the Group’s long-term borrowings. Interest 

rates of most long-term and short-term borrowings are fixed, this information is disclosed in Note 16.  

(e) Reconciliation of movements for finance liabilities 

Reconciliation of movements for liabilities arising from financing activities of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 

and 31 December 2018 is presented in the table below: 

Index 

 Liabilities arising from financing 

activities 

Borrowings Lease liabilities Total 

Liabilities arising from financing activities  

as at 1 January 2018 
24,830 - 24,830 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from borrowings  25,445 - 25,445 

Repayment of borrowings (24,390) - (24,390) 

Total cash flows from financing activities 1,055 - 1,055 

Cash flows from other activities    

Interest paid and capitalized (1,679) - (1,679) 

Interest paid (31) - (31) 

Total cash flows from other activities (1,710) - (1,710) 

Other changes    

Interest expense accrual 1,758 - 1,758 

Non-cash liabilities set-off (22) - (22) 

Total other changes 1,736 - 1,736 

Liabilities arising from financing activities  

as at 31 December 2018 
25,911 - 25,911 
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Index 

 Liabilities arising from financing 

activities 

Borrowings Lease liabilities Total 

Liabilities arising from financing activities  

as at 1 January 2018 
25,911 - 25,911 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from borrowings  26,459 - 26,459 

Repayment of borrowings (24,601) - (24,601) 

Repayment of lease liabilities - (1,119) (1,119) 

Total cash flows from financing activities 1,858 (1,119) 739 

 

Cash flows from other activities 
   

Interest paid and capitalised (1,743) - (1,743) 

Interest paid (201) (843) (1,044) 

Total cash flows from other activities (1,944) (843) (2,787) 

Other changes    

Effect of modification of lease agreement / changes of estimates - 9,148 9,148 

New lease agreements - 477 477 

Acquisition of subsidiary  1,252 - 1,252 

Disposal of subsidiary  (1,566) - (1,566) 

Interest expense accrual 2,192 902 3,094 

Non-cash liabilities set-off (14) - (14) 

Total other changes 1,864 10,527 12,391 

Liabilities arising from financing activities  

as at 31 December 2019 
27,689 8,565 36,254 

26 Capital commitments  

As at 31 December 2019 the Group was involved in a number of contingent contracts for construction and purchase of property, 

plant and equipment amounting to RUB 47,134 million, including VAT (as at 31 December 2018: RUB 44,513 million, 

including VAT), including: 

• RUB 4,487 million for upgrading the Group’s technological equipment (as at 31 December 2018: 

RUB 10,825 million); 

• RUB 42,647 million for new construction and purchase of equipment (as at 31 December 2018: RUB 33,688 million). 

27 Acquisition of subsidiaries 

As of 1 July 2019 as a result of presenting its share for repayment by the second participant, the Group gained control over 

LLC TSK Metrologiya (previously 99% of the share belonged to LLC TEK-Inform, a subsidiary of 

LLC Gazprom energoholding).  
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The detailed information about acquired assets and liabilities is presented below: 

  Carrying amount at acquisition date 

Assets     

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment  5  

Intangible assets  1 

Deferred tax assets  9 

Other non-current assets  3 

Total non-current assets  18 

Current assets   

Inventories  168  

Accounts receivable and prepayments  2,152 

Cash and cash equivalents  45 

Other current assets  2 

Total current assets  2,367 

Total assets  2,385 

Non-current liabilities   

Borrowings  1,057 

Total non-current liabilities  1,057 

Current liabilities   

Borrowings  195 

Accounts payable and liabilities  1,132 

Total current liabilities  1,327 

Total liabilities  2,384 

Net assets at acquisition date  1 

This transaction is classified as a business combination under common control, so the effect of joining in the amount of 

RUB 1 million was recognized directly in the equity. 

On 26 December 2019 LLC TSK Metrologiya sold its own 99% share to LLC Gazpromenergoremont, as a result of which the 

Group lost control over LLC TSK Metrologiya.  

The detailed information about disposed assets and liabilities is presented below: 

  Carrying amount at acquisition date 

Assets     

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment  47 

Intangible assets  1 

Other non-current assets  33 

Total non-current assets  81 

Current assets   

Inventories  18 

Accounts receivable and prepayments  4,421 

Cash and cash equivalents  225 

Total current assets  4,664 

Total assets  4,745 

Non-current liabilities   

Borrowings  1,524 

Deferred tax liabilities  1 

Total non-current liabilities  1,525 

Current liabilities   

Borrowings  42 

Accounts payable and liabilities  2,814 

Total current liabilities  2,856 

Total liabilities  4,381 

Net assets at acquisition date  365 

The loss on disposal in the amount of RUB 365 million was reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

for the year ended 31 December 2019 (Note 20). 
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28 Segment information 

Segment information for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the year ended 31 December 2018 is presented below: 

 Note Heat energy 

Connection 

to the 

heating 

system 

Other 

segments 

Total by 

segments 

Inter-group 

operations 
Total 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

Revenue        144,883            10,231            8,466      163,580    (4,202)     159,378    

External revenue 19       143,106            9,829            6,443        159,378                  -       159,378    

Intergroup revenue            1,777               402           2,023           4,202    (4,202)               -      

Financial result by 

segments 
           689              9,548    (2,655)            7,582    -     7,582    

Amortisation and 

depreciation 
20     (15,913)    (19)    (243)    (16,174)    - (16,174)    

Reversal of 

impairment 

loss/(impairment loss) 

on accounts 

receivable 

             800                 398    (473)             725    -      725   

For the year ended 31 December 2018 

Revenue  151,752 9,836 5,421 167,009 (4,168) 162,841 

External revenue 19 149,363 9,435 4,043 162,841 - 162,841 

Intergroup revenue  2,389 401 1,378 4,168 (4,168) - 

Financial result by 

segments 
 4,511 8,307 (5,885) 6,933 - 6,933 

Amortisation and 

depreciation 
20 (13,999) (34) (628) (14,661) - (14,661) 

Impairment loss on 

accounts receivable 
 (5,619) (436) (310) (6,365) - (6,365) 

Revenue of “Heat energy” segment includes revenue from heat energy sales and hot water supply services, revenue in the 

“Connection to the heating system” segment corresponds to the revenue from connection services to heat and hot water supply 

system, other types of revenue constitute the revenue of other segments. 

In the current period, the principles for the valuation of financial results by segment were revised compared to the consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 by excluding profit or loss from the compensation of losses in the 

liquidation of property from the valuation. 

Presented below is presentation of the financial result for reportable segments to profit before tax in the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income:

 Note 
For the year ended 

31 December 2019 

For the year ended 

31 December 2018 

Financial result for reportable segments                     10,273    12,817 

Financial result for other segments  (2,655)    (5,884) 

Financial result by segments  7,582      6,933 

Net finance (expense)/income 20                     (1,479)    263 

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary 22 (365) - 

Compensation of losses from liquidation of 

property 
 

                  7,011    4,985 

Profit before tax  12,749 12,181 

29 Commitments and contingencies 

Taxation in the Russian Federation 

The tax system of the Russian Federation is characterised by frequent changes in regulations, official interpretations and court 

decisions which are sometimes not clearly stated and contradict each other, which, in turn, gives way to possibility of  multiple 

interpretations by various tax authorities. Taxes are subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities, which have 

the authority to impose fines and penalties. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for three 

calendar years preceding the year when decision about review was made. Under certain circumstances such reviews may cover 

longer periods. Based on the recent practice in the Russian Federation, tax authorities take a more rigid position when it comes 

to interpretation of and compliance with tax legislation aiming at discovery of unjustified tax benefits.  
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These circumstances result in much higher tax risks in the Russian Federation compared to other countries. Based on its 

understanding of the effective tax legislation, official interpretations and court decisions, the Group’s management believe that 

its tax liabilities are disclosed adequately. However, the interpretations of the relevant authorities could differ from the 

management’s position and in case they are be able to enforce their interpretations, this could have significant effect on these 

consolidated financial statements. 

Environmental liabilities 

The Group’s management believes that its production technologies are in compliance with all current existing environmental 

legislation of the Russian Federation. However, environmental laws and regulations continue to evolve. The Group is unable 

to predict the timing or extent to which those environmental laws and regulations may change. Such change, if it occurs, may 

require the Group to modernise its technologies to be in compliance with strict standards. 

Litigation claims 

As at 31 December 2019 the Group is one of the parties in a number of litigations and claims. The management believes that 

currently there are no claims or suits against the Company which could have an adverse impact on the Group’s financial 

position. 

30 Subsequent events 

On 23 January 2020 the Group concluded a loan agreement with PJSC Mosenergo for a total amount of RUB 15,000 million 

for five years term. 

On 28 January 2020 the Group concluded a loan agreement with PJSC Gazprom for a total amount of RUB 20,000 million 

within framework of the cash pooling agreement. 

On 5 February 2020 the EGRUL recorded the beginning of the liquidation procedure of LLC TSK MIPC. 

On 10 March 2020 the Group concluded a loan agreement with Gazprombank (Joint-stock Company) for a total amount of 

RUB 15,000 million for five years term. 


